69401-4

69401-4

No. 69401-4-I

DIVISION ONE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT,

Petitioner

v.

EVERARDO BECERRA-AREVALO,

Respondent

STATE OF WASHINGTON
2019 AUG 23 PM 10:18

BRIEF OF PETITIONER CITY OF KENT

TAMMY L. WHITE
WSBA #43595

CITY OF KENT
Attorneys for Petitioner
220 Fourth Ave. S.
Kent, WA 98032
(253) 856-5770

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Assignments of Error

(a) Assignment of Error No. 1: The RALJ court erred in reversing Becerra-Arevalo's conviction and remanding the case for retrial based on prosecutorial misconduct when it failed to apply the proper standard of review for allegations of prosecutorial misconduct that were not objected to at trial.

(b) Assignment of Error No. 2: The RALJ court erred in reversing Becerra-Arevalo's conviction and remanding the case for retrial based on improper opinion testimony regarding his guilt when it failed to apply the proper standard of review and determine whether the issue amounted to a manifest error of constitutional magnitude that could be raised for the first time on appeal.

(c) Assignment of Error No. 3: The RALJ court erred in reversing Becerra-Arevalo's conviction and remanding the case for retrial based on prosecutorial misconduct or improper opinion testimony when the prosecutor's statements and Officer Nastansky's testimony were invited, provoked, or in pertinent reply to defense counsel's questioning.

(d) Assignment of Error No. 4: The RALJ court erred in reversing Becerra-Arevalo's conviction and remanding the case for

retrial when any errors at trial regarding improper opinion testimony were invited by the defense and therefore barred from appeal under the invited error doctrine.

2. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

(a) Should Becerra-Arevalo's conviction for Assault in the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation be reversed and remanded for retrial based on prosecutorial misconduct when the RALJ court failed to apply the proper standard of review required by *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), reversed solely on the allegedly improper remarks of the prosecutor, and failed to consider whether any error could have been cured at trial had Becerra-Arevalo properly objected? (Assignment of Error No. 1)

(b) Should Becerra-Arevalo's conviction for Assault in the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation be reversed and remanded for retrial based on improper opinion testimony regarding his guilt when the RALJ court failed to apply the proper standard of review required by *Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993) and first determine whether the issue amounted to a manifest error of constitutional magnitude that could be raised for the first time on appeal when the testimony was not objected to at trial. (Assignment of Error No. 2).

(c) Should Becerra-Arevalo's conviction for Assault in the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation be reversed and remanded for retrial when the prosecutor's statements and Officer Nastansky's opinion testimony were invited, provoked, or in pertinent reply to defense counsel's questioning and permitted by *State v. Ramos*, 164 Wn. App. 327, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011) and *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). (Assignment of Error No. 3).

(d) Should Becerra-Arevalo's conviction for Assault in the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation be reversed and remanded for retrial when any errors at trial regarding improper opinion testimony were invited by the defense and therefore barred from appeal under the invited error doctrine in accordance with *In re Pers. Restraint of Tortorelli*, 149 Wn.2d 82, 66 P.3d 606 (2003). (Assignment of Error No. 4).

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 12, 2011, trial began in a criminal case in the Kent Municipal Court against Mr. Everardo Becerra-Arevalo ("Becerra-Arevalo") on the charge of Assault in the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation. CP 56. The trial concluded the following day with the jury returning a guilty verdict on the charge and a finding on special verdict that the assault was committed with sexual motivation. CP 353.

At trial, the victim, Kelly Fitzpatrick, testified that on the date of the assault, October 27, 2009, Becerra-Arevalo came up behind her, reached underneath her, and put both his hands on her breasts. CP 75-76. Ms. Fitzpatrick, stunned, then walked to and sat in her chair, with Becerra-Arevalo following, who then bent down and tried to kiss her. CP 76, 81. Ms. Fitzpatrick turned her head, and Becerra-Arevalo ended up kissing her on the cheek. CP 76. Ms. Fitzpatrick then told Becerra-Arevalo to leave, and he left without further incident. CP 76, 81. When efforts to report the assault to her supervisor failed to bring about responsive action, Ms. Fitzpatrick reported the assault to police. CP 82-84.

During trial, former Kent Police Officer Carrie Nastansky¹ testified on direct that her conversation with Becerra-Arevalo about Ms. Fitzpatrick's allegations "was kind of odd because it was—I don't want to say he was trying to hide something. He was very careful about what he said and how he answered the questions." CP 110. Becerra-Arevalo's counsel did not object to Officer Nastansky's statement. CP 110. Officer Nastansky further described what it was about Becerra-Arevalo that led her to believe he was being careful—"he was slow to answer as if he were trying to come up with a story in his head versus just if something had

¹ At the time of trial, the officer was employed as a Deputy with the Thurston County Sheriff's Office. CP 103-104.

happened you would be able to freely tell the story and you wouldn't have to think about it . . . It seemed to me like he was trying to hide something.”

CP 111. Becerra-Arevalo's counsel did not object to this testimony. CP 111.

On cross, Becerra-Arevalo's counsel asked Officer Nastansky if Becerra-Arevalo was only “guarded” with respect to questions about his relationships with women at work. CP 117. On re-direct, the prosecutor asked Officer Nastansky if Becerra-Arevalo was guarded in other respects, to which Officer Nastansky stated, “Yes he was. And he lied to me also. He told me he didn't know why I was there, although he had already been contacted by the property manager, so you would assume he would know why I was there.” CP 119-120. Becerra-Arevalo's counsel did not object, did not move to strike, and did not move for a mistrial. CP 120. The prosecutor immediately moved on. CP 119-120.

On re-cross, however, Becerra-Arevalo's counsel questioned Officer Nastansky extensively concerning Becerra-Arevalo's apparent “lie” to her:

Q: You said he lied to you? That's a pretty bold statement by an officer, wouldn't you agree?

CP 122, line 1-2.

Q: And you said that the reason you thought it was a lie was because this other person had talked to him previously?

CP 122, line 8-9.

Q: You go from the perspective that someone's guilty of a crime. What about somebody that doesn't think they've committed a crime?

CP 122, line 21-22.

Q: You classify this as a lie. You specifically said it was a lie.

CP 124, line 14.

Q: So what about that statement is a lie?

CP 124, line 16.

Q: I'm asking about that statement specifically, not your interactions.

CP 124, line 18.

Q: If you were accused of a crime—most people that you deal with, when you accuse them of a crime, are they guarded?

CP 125, line 9-10.

Q: So you're saying just the people that are guilty are guarded?

CP 125, line 12.

Q: And that's the statement that you're saying is a lie?

CP 126, line 10.

Through leading questions to Officer Nastansky, Becerra-Arevalo's counsel drew the conclusions that "just the people that are guilty are guarded," "people that are guarded are guilty," "and people that are not guilty but accused of a crime are not guarded." CP 125, line 12; CP 131, lines 17-21. *None of this questioning was elicited by the prosecutor.*

In the City's second re-direct, and based on Becerra-Arevalo significantly opening the door, the prosecutor asked Officer Nastansky the basis for her opinion that was elicited by Becerra-Arevalo's counsel. CP 128, line 8. Officer Nastansky then explained what led her to her opinion. CP 128-129. Although Becerra-Arevalo objected, he again objected based on "speculation," not improper opinion or misconduct, and made no motion to strike or for a mistrial. CP 128, line 8.

In their instructions, the jurors were provided with WPIC 1.02, which provided that the jury was the sole judge of the credibility of each witness. CP 8. During closing, the prosecutor referred to this instruction multiple times and the guidance it provided that the jury, and they alone, were the sole judges of each witness's credibility. CP 320, 321, 325. The prosecutor discussed with the jury those things included in their instructions that they may consider when assessing credibility, including a witness's demeanor while testifying. CP 325-326. In closing, the

prosecutor asked the jury to ask themselves if they believed, based on Ms. Fitzpatrick's demeanor when she testified, that she was making up the allegations, and to consider what motive, bias, or prejudice Ms. Fitzpatrick would have to fabricate her claims, to come into a room full of strangers and tell them something very personal that had happened to her—that Becerra-Arevalo had touched her breasts and kissed her. CP 326-327. No objection was made by Becerra-Arevalo to these closing statements. CP 325-328.

The jury returned a verdict finding Becerra-Arevalo guilty of Assault in the 4th Degree and returned a special verdict finding that the assault was committed with Sexual Motivation. CP 4, 5, 352-353. Becerra-Arevalo timely filed for review of the conviction alleging: (i) prosecutorial misconduct based on: improper opinion testimony, improper cross-examination and impeachment, improper comment on his constitutional right to confront witnesses; (ii) admission of improper opinion evidence that denied Becerra-Arevalo of his constitutional right to a jury trial; and (iii) admission of evidence on rebuttal that did not rebut any new evidence presented by the defense. CP 1, 30-54.

At RALJ, the Superior Court entered an Order finding that the cumulative effect of Officer Nastansky's comments on the credibility of

Becerra-Arevalo and his lying, with the prosecutor's comment in closing regarding Becerra-Arevalo's presence during Ms. Fitzpatrick's testimony, was sufficient to warrant reversal of the conviction and remand for re-trial for prosecutorial misconduct. CP 458-460. Having found that prosecutorial misconduct was sufficient to warrant reversal and remand, the Superior Court did not decide the remaining two issues Becerra-Arevalo raised in his RALJ appeal. CP 460.

On the City's motion, this Court accepted discretionary review of three issues raised by City: (1) that the RALJ court applied an improper standard of review to Becerra-Arevalo's claims of prosecutorial misconduct, (2) that any improper statements made by the prosecutor, or improper testimony by Officer Nastansky, were invited, provoked, or in pertinent reply to Becerra-Arevalo's questioning and therefore could not be used as a basis for reversal, and (3) that any error at trial regarding improper opinion testimony was invited by Becerra-Arevalo and therefore barred from appeal. In granting review of these issues, this Court also granted review, in the interests of judicial efficiency, of whether the opinion testimony provided by Officer Nastansky warranted reversal and remand as an improper opinion on Becerra-Arevalo's guilt.

C. ARGUMENT

1. Court Of Appeals' Review Is De Novo.

Under RALJ 9.1(a), when review is taken from a superior court's decision in an appeal of a judgment rendered by a court of limited jurisdiction, the appellate court reviews the decision of the limited jurisdiction court for errors of law. *State v. Steen*, 164 Wn. App. 789, 798-798, 265 P.3d 901 (2011), citing *State v. Ford*, 110 Wn.2d 827, 829, 755 P.2d 806 (1988). Issues of law are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Pannell*, 173 Wn.2d 222, 227, 267 P.3d 349 (2011). Because this appeal involves issues of law, the Court of Appeals conducts its review *de novo*, applying the same standard of review applicable before the RALJ court at the first level of appeal.

2. Allegations Of Prosecutorial Misconduct Not Objected To At Trial Are Waived Unless Heightened Standard Of Review Required By *State v. Emery* Is Met.

In a prosecutorial misconduct claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the prosecutor's comments were both improper and prejudicial, and when no objection is made at trial, a heightened standard applies and the defendant is deemed to have waived any error unless he can prove both that the prejudice had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict, and that the prosecutor's comments were so flagrant and ill-

intentioned that no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The focus of this inquiry is more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured, rather than the flagrant or ill-intentioned nature of the remarks. *Id.* at 762. A reviewing court must consider what would likely have happened if the defendant had timely objected, and this consideration is required before a retrial may be granted. *Id.* at 763-764. The reviewing court is to make this review in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence admitted, and the instructions provided. *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

3. Prosecutor Did Not Commit Misconduct That Resulted in Prejudice That Could Not Be Cured or Had A Substantial Likelihood of Affecting Jury's Verdict
 - a. Prosecutor Did Not Elicit Improper Opinion Testimony From Officer Nastansky Regarding Becerra-Arevalo's Guilt.

On review, Becerra-Arevalo alleged the prosecutor committed misconduct by eliciting testimony from Officer Nastansky as to her opinion of the defendant's guilt or credibility. CP 37. The RALJ court agreed with Becerra-Arevalo, reversed his conviction, and remanded the case for retrial. CP 458-460. The transcript and case law, however, do not

support this allegation or reversal of Becerra-Arevalo's conviction. The prosecutor's initial question to Officer Nastansky that Becerra-Arevalo took issue with in his appeal was:

Q: And once you told him [Becerra-Arevalo] why it was that you were there did he say anything to you about what had happened?

A: Just to refer back to my notes real quick. The conversation, from what I remember, was kind of odd because it was—I don't want to say he was trying to hide something. He was very careful about what he said and how he answered the questions....

CP 110, lines 4-9. The prosecutor's question was proper and sought only testimony from Officer Nastansky as to statements made by Becerra-Arevalo. However, in response, Officer Nastansky testified concerning her impression of Becerra-Arevalo's demeanor as she spoke with him. At no time during Officer Nastansky's response did Becerra-Arevalo object. CP 110. The following exchange then occurred:

Q: So why was it that you believed he was trying to be careful in how he answered your questions?

Defense Objection: Objection Your Honor, calls for speculation.

...

[Witness allowed to answer with rephrasing of the question]

...

A: Because he was slow to answer as if he were trying to come up with a story in his head versus just if something had happened you would be able to freely tell the story and you wouldn't have to think about it. There would be like okay, well did this happen and then this. You just say what happened, nothing to hide.

Q: And did you get that perception with him here?

A: No. He was—it seemed to me like he was trying to hide something.

CP 110-111. Becerra-Arevalo's initial objection was on the basis of "speculation," not improper opinion or prosecutorial misconduct and there was no objection made to Officer Nastansky's response. CP 110, line 14, 111, lines 3-9. However, to allow review, a trial objection must state the specific point of law that is error. See *State v. Walker*, 121 Wn.2d 214, 217, 848 P.2d 721 (1993). This exchange between the prosecutor and officer ended the inquiry on that issue.

Evidence does not constitute improper opinion testimony when the testimony is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt, is helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence. *State v. Fisher*, 74 Wn. App. 804, 813-814, 874 P.2d 1381 (1994)². Even though testimony may encompass the ultimate factual issue to be decided by the jury, an

² *Aff'd in part, rev'd in part sub nom., State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)

opinion drawn from an inference made after having personally heard the defendant's statement and observing his behavior, is not an impermissible opinion as to the defendant's guilt. *Id.* at 814. In *Fisher*, this Court found that an officer's testimony that a statement a defendant made indicated to the officer that the defendant was "involved in the [drug] transaction," or "running the show," was a permissible inference drawn based not only on the officer's experience, but also on the officer having personally heard the statement and observing that defendant's behavior. *Id.* at 814.

Here, the prosecutor's questioning was proper as it sought testimony concerning Officer Nastansky's observations of Becerra-Arevalo's demeanor, not Officer Nastansky's opinion as to Becerra-Arevalo's guilt. *Id.* at 814. As in *Fisher*, Officer Nastansky's testimony that Becerra-Arevalo was being "careful" and her description of what she observed that led her to that opinion—that Becerra-Arevalo was slow to answer, not freely telling his story—are proper inferences and it was not improper for the prosecutor to elicit that testimony.

Becerra-Arevalo, however, readdressed the issue on cross by asking Officer Nastansky if Becerra-Arevalo's answers were only "guarded" (a term Officer Nastansky had not used) with respect to the relationships he had with women at work. CP 117, lines 13-16. On her

first re-direct examination, and in response to Becerra-Arevalo's implied limitation, the prosecutor asked Officer Nastansky:

Q: Okay. And now Counsel had asked you questions about whether or not the defendant was just guarded in the questions that you were asking about the relationships that he [sic] with the women on the property?

A: Mm-hmm. (Affirmative).

Q: Was he also guarded with you on the events that occurred on October 27th?

A: Yes he was. *And he lied to me also. He told me he didn't know why I was there, although he had already been contacted by the property manager, so you would assume that he would know why I was there.*

CP 119, lines 21-23, CP 120, lines 1-6 (emphasis added). Becerra-Arevalo made no objection, no motion to strike, and no motion for a mistrial based on either the question asked or the answer provided. CP 119-120. Upon Officer Nastansky's response, the prosecutor immediately moved on.

An improper opinion cannot support a claim of prosecutorial misconduct if the form of the prosecutor's question did not elicit that opinion. *State v. Jungers*, 125 Wn. App. 895, 902, 106 P.3d 827 (2005). In *Jungers* when the prosecutor asked the officer "And what happened next, Officer Mettler, after you found the evidence," the officer responded

“I talked to some individuals in the residence and through my investigation I determined I believed it belonged to Ms. Jungers.” *Id.* at 902. Because the officer’s response was not elicited by the form of the prosecutor’s question, the court held no misconduct occurred. *Id.* *Jungers* is directly analogous to the facts in the instant case. Here, the questions asked by the prosecutor would not lead one to believe that Officer Nastansky would blurt a response that Becerra-Arevalo “lied” to her. In fact, the form of the question only called for a “yes” or “no” response. Additionally, Officer Nastansky qualified that she made an *assumption* based on information she believed was known to Becerra-Arevalo, which makes it more likely that the jurors could have interpreted Officer Nastansky’s opinion more as her description of Becerra-Arevalo’s behavior than her opinion regarding his guilt.

All of the exchanges about Becerra-Arevalo “lying” came from *defense counsel* on his first re-cross of Officer Nastansky:

Q: You said he lied to you? That’s a pretty bold statement by an officer, wouldn’t you agree.

CP 122, line 1-2.

Q: And you said that the reason you thought it was a lie was because this other person had talked to him previously.

CP 122, line 8-9.

Q: You go from the perspective that someone's guilty of a crime. What about somebody that doesn't think they've committed a crime?

CP 122, line 21-22.

Q: You go from the perspective that someone's guilty of a crime

CP 122, line 21.

Q: You classify this as a lie. You specifically said it was a lie.

CP 124, line 14.

Q: So what about that statement is a lie?

CP 124, line 16.

Q: I'm asking about that statement specifically, not your interactions.

CP 124, line 18.

Q: If you were accused of a crime—most people that you deal with, when you accuse them of a crime, are they guarded?

CP 125, line 9-10.

Q: So you're saying just the people that are guilty are guarded.

CP 125, line 12.

Q: And that's the statement that you're saying is a lie.

CP 126, line 10.

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