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

In making this argument, the City relies in part upon cases 

addressing prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument. BOP at 44 

(citing State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24,86,882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. 

denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995) and Ramos, supra). It is well-settled that the 

parties have latitude in closing argument to draw inferences from the 

evidence, and a prosecutor's improper remarks in closing argument may 

not warrant reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel's 

argument. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 86, 92-93 (prosecutor's remarks 

disparaging defense counsel in closing argument appeared to be fair 

responses to defense counsel's attacks on prosecutor, witnesses, and 

government agents); Ramos, 164 Wn. App. at 334 (prosecutor's remarks 

in closing argument were both prejudicial and unsupported by the record). 

In this case, however, the misconduct was in eliciting testimony on direct 

and re-direct examination, not in closing argument. 

The City also relies upon O'Neal for the proposition that "a 

prosecutor does not commit misconduct by eliciting witness testimony that 

vouches for or against the veracity of another witness if the defense has 

opened the door to such testimony by placing in issue the first witness's 

opinion of the second witness's veracity." BOP at 44 (citing State v. 

O'Neal, 126 Wn. App. 395, 109 P.3d 429 (2005), affirmed on other 
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grounds, 159 Wn.2d 500,150 P.3d 1121 (2007». O'Neal, however, is not 

a prosecutorial misconduct case. See O'Neal, 126 Wn. App. at 408-09. 

e. The City's argument that defense counsel's made a strategic 

decision not to object to Officer Nastansky's testimony is not supported by 

the record. The City's claims that defense counsel made a strategic 

decision not to object to Officer Nastansky's improper opinion that his 

client was a liar. BOP at 31. The City does not provide a citation to the 

municipal court record to support this assertion. Instead, the City points to 

appellate counsel's presentation during oral argument for the RAL] 

appeal. Id. This reference is improper. 5 

The transcript of the appellate arguments in the superior court are 

not part of the record before this Court on discretionary review. When this 

Court accepts discretionary review of an RAL] decision, the records is the 

same as it was for the RAL] court. RAP 9.1 (e); RAL] 6.4. The City 

nonetheless refers this Court to the verbatim report of proceedings of the 

superior court argument on RAL] appeal. BOP at 31 (citing transcript of 

RAL] oral argument (entitled Motion for Remand) at 7-8,28). That 

transcript is not properly before this Court. RAP 9.1(e). The City's 

5 This Court declined to review whether Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was denied 
effective assistance of counsel at trial or on RALJ appeal. Order Granting Discretionary 
Review at 3 n.3 
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argument based upon the oral argument transcript must therefore be 

ignored. 

In addition, the City relies a comment made in oral argument by 

appellate counsel, not trial counsel. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was represented 

at trial by David Iannotti. RP 3. RALJ counsel Andrea Beall's opinion 

does not establish a strategic decision by Mr. Iannotti that is never 

mentioned in the municipal court record. The City's argument that trial 

counsel's decisions in this case were strategic must be rejected. 

f. The superior court's RALJ decision should be affirmed. 

"Prosecuting attorneys are quasi-judicial officers who have a duty to 

subdue their courtroom zeal for the sake of fairness to a criminal 

defendant." Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 746. The assistant city attorney 

committed misconduct in eliciting the police officer's opinion that Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo was lying. The misconduct warranted reversal ofMr. 

Becerra-Arevalo's conviction because (1) no curative instruction could 

have obviated the prejudicial effect of the testimony, and (2) the resulting 

prejudice affected the jury verdict. 

The City asks this Court to review the evidence against Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo in determining if the prosecutorial misconduct in this 

case warranted the superior court's decision to reverse his conviction. 

BOP at 46-47. This is not the correct standard. Instead, the appellate 
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court determines if there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct 

affected the jury verdict. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 710-11 (and cases cited 

therein). 

[D]eciding whether reversal is required is not a matter of 
whether there is sufficient evidence to justify upholding the 
verdicts. Rather, the question is whether there is a 
substantial likelihood that the instances of misconduct 
affected the jury's verdict. We do not decide whether 
reversal is required by deciding whether, in our view, the 
evidence is sufficient. 

Id. at 711 (internal citations omitted). 

The impact of prosecutorial misconduct on jury deliberations is 

especially prejudicial when the jury's decision rests largely on their 

determination of the credibility of witnesses. State v. Walker, 164 Wn. 

App. 724, 737, 265 P.3d 191 (2011) (reversal due to pervasive 

prosecutorial misconduct in case that hinged on witness credibility), rev. 

granted, remanded, 164 Wn.2d 724 (2012); State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. 

App. 507, 526-27, 228 P.3d 813 (reversal based upon cumulative impact 

of several factors, including prosecutorial misconduct, in case that "turned 

largely on witness credibility"), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1003 (2010). 

The assistant city attorney repeatedly elicited testimony from a 

respected public servant that she believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying 

when he denied the allegations made against him. Witness credibility was 

the key decision for the jury in Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's case, and the 

25 



opinion testimony elicited by the City meets the flagrant and ill-

intentioned test. See Barr, 123 Wn. App. at 381-85 (conviction reversed 

where detective's testimony that the defendant's behavior during 

interrogation indicated he was being deceptive was "clearly designed to 

give the officer's opinion as to whether Mr. Barr had committed the 

offense"). There is a substantial likelihood that the jurors where 

influenced by the police officer's improper testimony, and the superior 

court's decision on RALJ appeal must be affirmed. 

2. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to a fair trial 
was violated by the introduction of a police officer's 
expert opinion that he was lying when he denied the 
allegations against him. 

"A trial in which irrelevant and inflammatory matter is introduced, 

which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused, is 

not a fair trial." Miles, 73 Wn.2d at 70. The superior court reversed Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo's misdemeanor conviction in part because the improper 

opinion testimony - elicited both by the prosecutor and by defense counsel 

- violated Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to a fair trial. CP 

459-60. The superior court's decision should be affirmed. 

a. A witness's testimony that the defendant is lying violates the 

constitutional right to a fair trial. "The right to have factual questions 

decided by the jury is crucial to the right to trial by jury." Montgomery, 

26 



163 Wn.2d at 590; Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 

P .2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989). "Whether a witness has testified truthfully 

is entirely for the jury to decide." Ish, 170 Wn.2d at 196 (citing United 

States v. Brooks, 508 F.3d 1205, 1210 (9th Cir. 2007)). A witness's 

opinion on the defendant's guilt or veracity, even by inference, thus 

violates the constitutional guarantee of a fair trial before an impartial trier 

offact. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 21, 22; State v. 

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927,155 P.3d 125 (2007); Demery, 144 Wn.2d 

at 759; Black, 109 Wn.2d at 348. 

In Montgomery, the defendants bought various items that could be 

used to manufacture methamphetamine, and a police officer testified that, 

based upon his training and experience, he believed this was the 

defendants' intent. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 588. The Montgomery 

Court held that the officer offered an improper opinion on guilt. Id. at 

594. "[T]he opinions in this case went to the core issue and the only 

disputed element, Montgomery's intent." Id. Furthermore, "the police 

officers' testimony carries an 'aura of reliability, '" and is likely to be given 

far greater weight than it should. Id. (citing Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 765). 

For future cases, the Montgomery Court even provided detailed instruction 

to prosecutors with the proper procedures for eliciting opinion testimony 
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and the importance of preparing witnesses so they do not inject opinion 

testimony that should not be placed before the jury. Id. at 591-94. 

b. The superior court properly addressed the officer's testimony on 

appeal. Appellate courts do not normally review issues not brought to 

the attention of the trial court, but the court rules provide an exception 

for constitutional issues because constitutional violations may result in 

a serious injustice to the accused. RAP 2.5(a); Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 

926; State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682,686, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). In 

determining whether to review a purported constitutional error for the 

first time on appeal, the appellate court first determines if the error is 

truly of constitutional magnitude and, if so, determines the effect the 

error had on the trial using the constitutional harmless error standard. 

Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 688. "It is the showing of actual prejudice that 

makes the error 'manifest,' allowing appellate review." Kirkman, 159 

Wn.2d at 927. 

The superior court found that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's 

constitutional right to a fair trial was violated by the introduction of a 

police officer's opinion; this is a constitutional issue. It also meets the 

requirement for "manifest" constitutional error because Officer 

Nastansky explicitly testified that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's denial of the 
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accusations against him was a lie. While the burden of showing a 

manifest constitutional issue is high, it is met by "a nearly explicit 

statement by the witness that the witness believed the accusing victim." 

Kirkham, 159 Wn.2d at 936; Accord State v. Johnson, 152 Wn. App. 

924,934, 19 P.3d 958 (2009) (defendant's wife's testimony indicating 

her beliefthat child abused victims were telling the truth addressed for 

first time on appeal). Here, the police officer's testimony that Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo was lying was an explicit opinion that he was guilty 

and a liar. 

In a rape prosecution, the police detective who interrogated the 

defendant pointed to various verbal and non-verbal cues that showed 

deception, claiming he learned about these cues during his training in 

the Reid investigation method.6 Barr, 123 Wn. App. at 378-79. This 

Court found the error was constitutional because a witness's opinion 

that the defendant is guilty violates the defendant's right to an impartial 

jury and to have the jury make an independent evaluation of the facts. 

Id. at 380. This Court also found that the error had "practical and 

identifiable consequences" at trial, noting the detective not only gave 

6 See F. E. Inbau, 1. E. Reid, 1. P. Buckley & B. C. Jayne, Criminal 
Interrogations and Confessions (5 th ed. 2011); www.reid.com/pdfs/cataloglpdf(last 
viewed 12/18/ 13). 
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his opinion that the defendant was guilty, but also bolstered that 

opinion with his Reid training, which has not been accepted as 

admissible evidence in Washington. Id. at 381,380. 

The same is true in Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's case. Officer 

Nastansky's opinion testimony violated his constitutional right to a fair 

and independent jury determination ofthe facts of his case. The 

evidence also had a practical impact in this case, as the jury repeatedly 

heard the officer's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was deceptive 

when she interviewed him and her opinion, based upon the entire 

investigation, that he was lying when he denied the charges. The 

prejudice from this error could not be erased and the superior court 

properly addressed it on appeal. 

c. The officer's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying 

when he denied the allegations against him violated his constitutional 

right to a fair trial. In reviewing the admissibility of challenged opinion 

testimony, Washington courts consider "(1) the type of witness involved, 

(2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) 

the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact." 

Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 591 (internal quotation marks omitted) 
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(quoting Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759). A review of these factors shows 

that the police officer's testimony was inadmissible. 

First, the witness involved was a police officer. As mentioned 

above, jurors are likely to place great weight on the testimony of such a 

respected public servant, and may even believe the officer was better able 

to tell ifMr. Becerra-Arevalo was truthful than they were. Second, the 

testimony was an explicit opinion that the defendant was lying when he 

denied the allegations, bolstered by the officer's explanation that her 

opinion was based not just on her interview with Mr. Becerra-Arevalo, but 

also on her entire investigation of the case. The charge was a non-violent 

assault with sexual motivation, and the defense was general denial 

combined with an unsuccessful alibi. Importantly, there was no physical 

or other evidence to corroborate the complaining witness's account. Thus, 

the police officer's opinion that the defendant was lying was not 

admissible. 

The City does not contest that most of Officer Nastansky's 

testimony was improper, but tries to limit this Court's inquiry to only the 

officer's initial statements that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo seemed to be making 

his story up. BOP at 41. The City thus cites Saunders for the proposition 

that an officer's testimony that the defendant's statements were 

"inconsistent" was admissible. Id. (citing State v. Saunders, 120 Wn. 
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App. 800, 812, 86 P.3d 232 (2004)). The superior court, however, looked 

at the cumulative impact of all of the officer's testimony in reversing Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo's conviction. The superior court decision is actually 

supported by the Saunders Court's holding that the detective's testimony 

that the defendant's answers during interrogation "weren't always 

truthful" was improper opinion testimony that could be raised for the first 

time on appeal. Saunders, 120 Wn. App. at 812-13. 

d. Defense counsel did not "invite" the error. The City argues that 

any error in eliciting the officer's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was 

lying was invited by defense counsel's cross-examination of the witness. 

The issue of evasiveness and lying, however, was introduced on direct 

examination by the State. 

The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error 

in the trial court in order to complain of it on appeal. In re Personal 

Restraint of Tortorelli, 149 Wn.2d 82, 94, 66 P.3d 606, cert. denied, 540 

U.S. 875 (2003). This doctrine applies when "a party induces the trial 

court to error." Jones, 144 Wn. App. at 298. Thus, in Tortorelli, the 

Supreme Court refused to address whether a statute admitted into evidence 

created an unconstitutional presumption because defense counsel had 

insisted the entire statute be admitted and used it to argue the defense of 

good faith claim of title. Tortorelli, 149 Wn.2d at 94,96. 
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Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's attorney, in contrast, tried to limit the 

damage caused by Officer Nastansky on cross-examination by pointing 

out that she had no personal knowledge of the events. He was 

unsuccessful, however, as the witness instead became even more insistent 

that she was an accurate judge of who was and was not truthful. RP 68, 

70-71. His objection was also overruled when the officer offered her 

ultimate testimony that she believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying based 

upon her entire investigation. RP 74. The defense gained nothing from 

the cross-examination, and defense counsel's inability to stop the line of 

inquiry with timely objections was not a planned strategy to set up an error 

for appeal. 

e. The constitutional error is not harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Improper expert opinions that the defendant is guilty or lying 

invade the province of the jury and thus violate the defendant's 

constitutional right to ajury trial. Barr, 123 Wn. App. at 380. The 

reviewing court presumes constitutional errors are prejudicial, and the 

State must convince the reviewing court beyond a reasonable doubt that 

any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. 

Id.; Chapman v. California, 385 U.S. 18,24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 

(1967). The constitutional harmless error standard requires both an 

evaluation of the incriminating evidence in the record and reflection upon 
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the effect of the error on a reasonable trier of fact. United States v. 

Bishop, 264 F.3d 919, 927 (9th Cir. 2001). 

Absent Officer Nastansky's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was

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